A. Identity of Petitioners 

John and Kristine Norton are the petitioners, individually 

and on behalf of their affiliated companies, Larco-Bolivar 

Investments, LLC, Shell La Paz, LLC, Northland Capital LLC, NDG

Brycon, LLC and P.R.E. Acquisitions, LLC. The Nortons were 

respondents in the Court of Appeals and plaintiffs in the Superior 

Court. 

B. Court of Appeals Decision. 

The Court of Appeals filed its published decision on February 

18, 2014. Norton v. U.S. Bank, _ Wn. App. _, 2014 WL 627509 

(2014) (App. A.). 

C. Issue Presented For Review. 

Regulations promulgated under the Bank Secrecy Act, 31 

U.S.C. § 5318(g)(1), require banks to report suspected money 

laundering or other violations of federal law to the Comptroller of 

the Currency by filing a Suspicious Activity Report ("SAR"). No 

bank may "disclose a SAR or any information that would reveal the 

existence of a SAR." 12 C.F.R. § 21.11(k)(1). 

Did the Court of Appeals err in broadly construing the Bank 

Secrecy Act privilege to prevent disclosure not just of a SAR or any 

information mentioning a SAR, but also of U.S. Bank's policies for 
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monitoring suspicious activity, and information pertaining to the 

Bank's supervision of its current and former employees who directly 

orchestrated and actively facilitated a Ponzi scheme -- information 

compiled by the Bank in the ordinary course of business for risk 

management purposes wholly unrelated to any federal reporting 

requirement? 

D. Statement of the Case 

1. U.S. Bank's former employee ran a Ponzi 
scheme with the assistance of U.S. Bank 
employees who earned bonuses from U.S. 
Bank for increasing account activity as the 
scheme expanded. 

Petitioners John and Kristine Norton filed this action against 

U.S. Bank and its former employee Nino de Guzman after losing 

over $10 million in a Ponzi scheme operated by Guzman with the 

assistance of U.S. Bank. (CP 1, 3-7) The Nortons allege that when 

Guzman left U.S. Bank, he informed management of his intent to 

market Peruvian real estate investments and enlisted U.S. Bank 

employees to assist him in soliciting investors. (CP 3-5) 

Between 2006 and 2009, investor funds - including 

proceeds of U.S. Bank employees' solicitations - were transferred 

from Seattle to Peru and back again, using over three dozen U.S. 

Bank accounts in the names of the shell companies controlled by 
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Guzman as part of his Ponzi scheme. (CP 4-6) U.S. Bank 

employees earned bonus compensation for opening new accounts 

into which these investor funds were deposited. (CP 4-5) 

By 2008 U.S. Bank had initiated an investigation into 

Guzman's money laundering activities. But U.S. Bank took no 

action while it continued to profit from the significant deposits 

obtained by Guzman and its former and current employees. (CP 7) 

The Nortons commenced this action in 2010 in King County 

Superior Court, alleging in their operative Second Amended 

Complaint fraud, breach of contract and conversion by Guzman and 

his company NDG, and breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment 

and violation of the Washington Securities Act by U.S. Bank. (CP 8-

17) Guzman defaulted. 

2. The Court of Appeals held that the Bank 
Secrecy Act privilege did not just cover SAR 
information, but precluded all discovery of 
U.S. Bank's involvement in the scheme, 
including the supervisory and investigative 
policies maintained by the Bank for internal 
risk management purposes. 

In discovery requests to U.S. Bank, the Nortons sought 

documents and information related to any internal monitoring, "red 

flags," internal investigations, and bank policies or methods of 

detecting fraud, as well as information regarding Bank employees 
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involved in monitoring Guzman or his accounts. (CP 62-74, 76-90, 

96-114) Plaintiffs excluded and specifically disclaimed any 

intention of seeking any information regarding U.S. Bank's decision 

to file or not to file a SAR or "any information that would reveal the 

existence or contents of a SAR." (CP 96-109) The trial court denied 

U.S. Bank's motion for a protective order, directing U.S. Bank to 

respond to the discovery requests, but providing that "U.S. Bank 

shall not produce a SAR, if any exist, or any information that would 

reveal the existence of a SAR." ( CP 359-60) 

Division One accepted discretionary review and reversed. In 

a published decision, the Court of Appeals held that the Bank 

Secrecy Act created a broad and "unqualified discovery and 

evidentiary privilege," (Op. ~ 11), that cannot be narrowly 

construed. (Op. ~ 19) The privilege therefore barred discovery of 

"any internal system a bank has established for detecting and 

investigating money laundering however it is labeled." (Op. ~ 23) 
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E. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted. 

1. The Court of Appeals' sweeping application of 
the privilege conflicts with established 
precedent requiring that evidentiary and 
discovery privileges be narrowly construed. 

The Court of Appeals erred in broadly construing the 

privilege under the Bank Secrecy Act to prohibit discovery of any 

information relating to a bank's internal procedures or 

investigations regarding suspicious banking activity. This Court has 

consistently held that evidentiary and discovery privileges must be 

narrowly construed, because they "impede[] the search for the 

truth." Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 260, ~ 36, 274 P.3d 346 

(2012) (federal highway reporting privilege is "narrowly construed 

because it impedes the search for truth."). Accord, Lowy v. 

PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769, 778, ~ 14, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012); 

C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 717, 

985 P.2d 262, 271 (1999) (legislative grants of privilege "strictly 

construed"). See also, Pierce County v. Guillen, 537 U.S. 129, 144-

45, 123 S.Ct. 720, 730, 154 L.Ed.2d 610 (2003). The Court of 

Appeals' published decision conflicts with these decisions. RAP 

13-4(b)(1). 
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The Bank Secrecy Act, as amended in 1992, reqmres 

financial institutions to report money laundering or other 

suspicious activity to law enforcement, and requires that those 

reports remain confidential: 

neither the financial institution, director, officer, 
employee, or agent of such institution (whether or not 
any such person is still employed by the institution), 
nor any other current or former director, officer, or 
employee of, or contractor for, the financial 
institution or other reporting person, may notify any 
person involved in the transaction that the transaction 
has been reported; 

31 U.S.C.A. § 5318(g)(2)(A)(i). The Office of the Comptroller of the 

Currency's implementing regulation makes the existence of such 

Suspicious Activity Reports privileged from disclosure, but 

authorizes disclosure "of the underlying facts, transactions, and 

documents upon which a SAR is based." 12 C.F.R. § 

21.11(k)(1)(ii)(A)(2) I 

The Court of Appeals broadly construed the privilege and 

narrowly construed its provision for disclosure of "underlying facts, 

transactions and documents." As a result, the court held that only 

"transactional" documents, such as account records, may be 

disclosed, while any investigatory documents or supervisory 

1 The relevant text of the regulation is attached as Appendix B. 
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policies that may reveal how a bank monitors suspicious activity are 

absolutely privileged: 

Any internal system a bank has established for 
detecting and investigating money laundering will, 
however it is labeled, be intertwined with the bank's 
obligation to report suspicious activity to the 
government. Discovery into these matters will 
produce documents suggesting that a Suspicious 
Activity Report has been or might be under 
consideration or has already been filed. 

(Op. ,-r 23) 

The plain language of the regulation, prohibiting only 

disclosure of "[a] SAR, and any information that would reveal the 

existence of a SAR," 12 C.F.R. § 21.11(k)(1)(i), does not support the 

Court of Appeals' sweeping interpretation of the privilege or the 

extremely narrow scope of the "underlying facts, transactions and 

documents" that are subject to disclosure under the rule. 

Neither does the OCC. In promulgating its regulation, the 

OCC stated that "[d]ocuments that may identify suspicious activity, 

but that do not reveal whether a SAR exists (e.g., a document 

memorializing a customer transaction such as an account statement 

indicating a cash deposit or a record of a funds transfer) ... need 

not be afforded confidentiality." 75 Fed. Reg. 75,576-01, 75,579 

(Dec. 3, 2010). Such "factual documents created in the ordinary 
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course of business (for example, business records and account 

information, upon which a SAR is based) may be discoverable in 

civil litigation under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure." 75 Fed. 

Reg. at 75,580. 

While the OCC lists account statements or transfer records 

as "illustrative examples," it clarified that they were not the only 

documents kept in the ordinary course of business that are subject 

to disclosure as "underlying facts, transactions, and documents:" 

The OCC did not intend for these examples to be 
exhaustive and does not believe the text, as proposed, 
implies that the examples are exhaustive .... [T]he 
OCC is revising the final rule's language at 
§ 21.11(k)(2) to read '* * * [t]he underlying facts, 
transactions, and documents upon which a SAR is 
based, including but not limited to, disclosures 
expressly listed as illustrative examples in the rule. 

75 Fed. Reg. at 75, 581. 

Neither the language nor the drafting history of the rule 

support the Court of Appeals' sweeping interpretation of the 

privilege. The Court of Appeals instead erroneously relied on the 

federal law enforcement policies underlying the Bank Secrecy Act to 

broadly construe the privilege. (Op. ~ 22-23) That the Bank 

Secrecy Act privilege is supported by important federal interests, 
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however, does not mandate the expansive privilege imposed by the 

Court of Appeals here. 

In Guillen, the U.S. Supreme Court considered the privilege 

enacted as 23 U.S.C. § 409 that protects from discovery accident 

reports compiled or collected by state agencies for the purpose of 

obtaining federal highway improvement funds. Recognizing that 

states had compiled accident reports long before they were 

mandated in applications for federal highway dollars, the Court 

refused to broadly construe the privilege to preclude discovery of 

state highway patrol accident reports made for purposes other than 

for acquiring federal funds under 23 U.S.C. § 152: 

the text of § 409 evinces no intent to make plaintiffs 
worse off than they would have been had § 152 
funding never existed. Put differently, there is no 
reason to interpret § 409 as prohibiting the disclosure 
of information compiled or collected for purposes 
unrelated to § 152, held by government agencies not 
involved in administering § 152, if, before § 152 was 
adopted, plaintiffs would have been free to obtain 
such information from those very agencies. 

Guillen, 537 U.S. at 146. 

Just as state agencies investigate traffic accidents for 

purposes other than highway funding, banks investigate fraud and 

supervise employees for purposes other than filing Suspicious 

Activity Reports with the Comptroller of Currency. The Bank 

9 



Secrecy Act's privilege against disclosure of "information that would 

reveal the existence of a SAR," 12 C.F.R. § 21.11(k)(1)(i), does not 

encompass a bank's internal investigatory documents that relate to 

a bank's necessary risk management and employee supervision and 

that do not mention or establish whether or not a SAR was filed. 

This Court recently noted how easily a statutory privilege 

could be used by a defendant to shield otherwise discoverable 

information, holding that "statutory privileges ... are not to be used 

as a mechanism to conceal from discovery otherwise discoverable 

information." Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d at 781, ~ 20 

(narrowly construing the quality assurance immunity statute, RCW 

70-41.200). The Court of Appeals' expansive interpretation of the 

privilege here disregarded this Court's warning in Lowy. It allows a 

bank to shield from disclosure its otherwise discoverable risk 

management documents based on an unverified assertion that the 

information may or may not find its way into a SAR: 

Financial institutions may have risk management 
procedures in place for detecting suspicious activity 
wholly apart from their procedures for complying with 
federal reporting obligations. A bank may not cloak its 
internal reports and memoranda with a veil of 
confidentiality simply by claiming they concern 
suspicious activity or concern a transaction that 
resulted in the filing of a SAR. 
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Union Bank of California, N.A. v. Superior Court, 130 Cal.App-4th 

378, 29 Cal.Rptr.3d 894, 903 (2005). See also Regions Bank v. 

Allen, 33 So.3d 72, 77 (Fla. App. 2010) (bank's interpretation of the 

scope of SAR confidentiality "overbroad and subject to 

misapplication"). 

The Court of Appeals cited cases that do not support the 

sweeping view that any bank policies and supervision of bank 

employees are immune from discovery. See, e.g., Whitney Nat'[ 

Bank v. Karam, 306 F. Supp.2d 678, 682-683 (S.D. Tex. 2004) 

(protecting only "communications pertaining to a SAR or its 

contents; communications preceding the filing of a SAR and 

preparatory or preliminary to it; communications that follow the 

filing of a SAR and explanations or follow-up discussion; or oral 

communications or suspected or possible violations that did not 

culminate in the filing of a SAR."); Cotton v. Private Bank and 

Trust Co., 235 F. Supp.2d 809, 815 (N.D. Ill. 2002) ("drafts of SARs 

or other work product or privileged communications that relate to 

the SAR itself."); Union Bank, 29 Cal Rptr. 389 (all discussed in Op 

at~~ 14-19). 

In Union Bank, for instance, the California Court of Appeals 

held that the bank's "Form 244 Suspicious Activity Report," which 
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is filled out by bank personnel to report suspicious activities, was 

privileged because it was an "internal document[] prepared in 

anticipation of the filing of a SAR." 29 Cal.Rptr.3d at 904. But in 

contrast to the Court of Appeals here, the Union Bank court 

recognized that "all reports and investigations are not necessarily 

covered by the SAR privilege," 29 Cal.Rptr.3d at 904, citing U.S. v. 

Holihan, 248 F.Supp.2d 179 (W.D.N.Y. 2003) (ordering production 

of personnel files of bank employees involved in suspected 

embezzlement). 

In Cotton, the Illinois federal district court ordered that 

"CIBC shall produce any handwritten notes, which were prepared 

contemporaneously with the disputed business transactions and 

which were not prepared for the purpose of investigating or drafting 

a possible SAR." Cotton, 235 F.Supp.2d at 816. And in Karam, the 

district court granted the bank's protective order as to "information 

exchanged between the Whitney Bank Parties and any 

governmental agency or entity pertaining to this lawsuit or to the 

facts made the basis of this lawsuit." 306 F. Supp. 2d at 679. It did 

not, as here, prohibit discovery of any internal bank documents 

whatsoever, and in particular, documents that exist "wholly apart 

from" the Bank's federal reporting obligations. 
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The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the only 

documents and information exempted from the privilege were 

transaction documents, such as account records, because any 

inquiry into a bank's "internal systems" could lead to disclosure of a 

SAR. Other federal courts have expressly rejected the position taken 

by the Court of Appeals because banks routinely prepare internal 

reports or memoranda regarding suspicious activities that are not 

directly related to a SAR: 

A common theme in the cases in which a bank or 
other lending institution has invoked the SAR 
privilege has been to sustain the objection as to any 
SAR or any document that would reveal whether a 
SAR had been submitted, but to deny the objection as 
to other bank documents .... [A]lthough a bank may 
undertake an internal investigation in anticipation of 
filing a SAR, it is also a standard business practice for 
banks to investigate suspicious activity as a necessary 
and appropriate measure to protect the bank's 
interests, and the internal bank reports or 
memorandum generated by the bank regarding such 
an investigation are not protected by SAR privilege. 

In re Whitley, 2011 WL 6202895*4 (Bankr. M.D.N.C. Dec. 13, 

2011), citing Freedman & Gersten, LLP v. Bank of America, NA., 

2010 WL 5139874*1 (D.N.J. Dec. 8, 2010). 

The Court of Appeals' decision was not supported by federal 

law and its expansive interpretation of the privilege conflicts with 
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this court's decisions, as well as federal decisions. RAP 13-4(b)(1). 

This Court should grant review and reverse. 

2. The scope of the Bank Secrecy Act privilege 
raises an issue of substantial public interest. 

This Court should also grant review under RAP 13-4(b)(4) 

because the scope of the privilege under the Bank Secrecy Act is an 

issue of substantial interest to the public. Recent years have seen 

prominent cases of financial fraud, some on a massive scale. See, 

e.g., FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, 

Inc., 175 Wn. App. 840, 849-50, 309 P.3d 555 (2013), rev. granted, 

179 Wn.2d 1008, 316 P.3d 495 (2014) (litigation against financial 

institutions following collapse of Madoffs notorious Ponzi scheme). 

Private civil actions are a valuable tool in enforcing federal 

securities laws. See Bateman Eichler, Hill Richards, Inc. v. Berner, 

472 U.S. 299, 310, 105 S.Ct. 2622, 2628, 86 L.Ed.2d 215 (1985) 

(private civil actions "provide a most effective weapon in the 

enforcement' of the securities laws") (internal quotation omitted). 

The Court of Appeals' decision will pose a near insurmountable 

barrier to enforcement of securities laws against a bank that is 

instrumental in aiding and abetting a fraud. 
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Here, the Nortons alleged that the Bank not only actively 

enabled its former employee Guzman to operate a Ponzi scheme, 

but rewarded its own employees who assisted him with knowledge 

of the fraud. Yet any internal risk management and employee 

supervisory documents that could shed light on the Bank's 

involvement in this scheme are shielded from discovery by the 

Bank's unchallenged assertion that they may in some way relate to 

the filing of a SAR. The Court of Appeals' decision will only 

encourage lax supervision by banks, confident that they can more 

profitably operated free from customer and judicial scrutiny. The 

Bank Secrecy Act was not intended as a blanket immunity law for 

national banks. 

3· The Court of Appeals' failure to order an in 
camera review also conflicts with this Court's 
decisions. 

At a minimum, the Court of Appeals should have directed the 

trial court to conduct an in camera review of U.S. Bank's documents 

in order to determine whether any of those documents could be 

considered work product or otherwise related to an SAR. Its refusal 

to do so also conflicts with this Court's decisions. RAP 13-4(b)(1). 

The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency's comments to 

Section 23.11, relied upon by the court below, recognize that the 
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privilege extends "in appropriate circumstances to material 

prepared by the national bank as part of its process to detect and 

report suspicious activity." 75 FRat 75,579 (emphasis added). In 

camera review is a proper means of resolving contested claims of 

privilege under the Bank Secrecy Act. See Regions Bank v. Allen, 

33 So.3d 72, 77 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2010) (ordering in camera 

review following bank's claim of privilege). 

This Court has consistently favored m camera reVIew of 

documents or testimony subject to a claim of privilege. See Cedell 

v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 176 Wn.2d 686, 700, ~ 18, 295 

P.3d 239 (2013) (in camera review to determine "whether the 

attorney client-privilege applies to particular discovery requests, 

and whether appellants have overcome that privilege by showing a 

foundation in fact for the charge of civil fraud."), quoting Escalante 

v. Sentry Ins., 49 Wn. App. 375, 394, 743 P.2d 832 (1987), rev. 

denied, 109 Wn.2d 1025 (1988); Fellows v. Moynihan, 175 Wn.2d 

641, 658, ~ 36, 285 P.3d 864 (2012) (in camera review of 

documents withheld by hospital under claim of quality 

improvement privilege); State v. Harris, 91 Wn.2d 145, 148, 588 

P.2d 720 (1978) (evaluating claim of informant's privilege against 

defendant's Sixth Amendment confrontation right). See also King 
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v. Olympic Pipeline Co., 104 Wn. App. 338, 355 n. 34, 16 P.3d 45 

(2000) (invocation of Fifth Amendment privilege by party in civil 

case), rev. denied, 143 Wn.2d 1012, 21 P.3d 290 (2001). 

The Court of Appeals' refusal to order in camera review of a 

bank's sweeping invocation of the Bank Secrecy Act privilege 

conflicts with these cases. RAP 13-4(b)(1), (2). The Court should

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