RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 18, 2014, 1:57 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 90089-2



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 68531-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN NORTON AND KRISTINE NORTON, individually, and derivatively on behalf of LARCO-BOLIVAR INVESTMENTS, LLC and SHELL LA PAZ, LLC; NORTHLAND CAPITAL, LLC, individually, and derivatively on behalf of NDG-BRYCON, LLC; and P.R.E. ACQUISITIONS, LLC, Petitioners,

٧.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, Respondent,

and

JOSE NINO DE GUZMAN and NDG INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC, Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

A. The Opinion is Not in Conflict with Any Washington Supreme Court Decision

Petitioners argue that review should be granted because the Opinion conflicts with precedent regarding the general proposition that privileges should be narrowly construed. This argument is unavailing. In their Petition, Petitioners for the first time cite to three Washington Supreme Court decisions purportedly standing for this proposition. Compare Petition at 5 (citing Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 274 P.3d 346 (2012); Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012); C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999)), with Respondent's Brief at ii and CP 259-273 (Petitioners' Superior Court Brief) (both containing no such citations). These decisions provide no basis for review because (1) they have nothing to do with the Bank Secrecy Act; (2) the Court of Appeals was not made aware of these cases by Petitioners; and (3) in any event, there is no conflict because the Opinion specifically acknowledged the general principle that privileges are to be narrowly construed and did not deviate from it.

First, there is no conflict with any Washington Supreme Court decision because none of the cited cases has anything to do with the Bank Secrecy Act. *Gendler* addressed the release of motor vehicle accident reports generated for purposes other than complying with federal road survey requirements; *Lowy* concerned whether hospitals were required to consult quality assurance records to identify discoverable medical records;

and *C.J.C.* dealt with whether a priest's mental health records could be shielded from discovery if they were not kept confidential. These cases do not bear any resemblance to, much less address, the question before the Court of Appeals regarding the specific Bank Secrecy Act privilege and its unique law enforcement underpinnings. There is no "conflict" between the Opinion and the decisions cited by Petitioners on unrelated topics.

Second, the three cited cases provide no basis for review because Petitioners never cited them to the Court of Appeals or to the Superior Court. This fact powerfully illustrates that the decisions now being cited are not controlling as to, and do not conflict with, the decision of the Court of Appeals (or else Petitioners would and should have brought them to the attention of the Court of Appeals). Indeed, Petitioners have waived their ability to argue that these three decisions control by raising them for the first time in their Petition. See Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wa. v. Peterson, 82 Wn.2d 822, 829, 514 P.2d 159 (1973) (new arguments raised for the first time on a petition for review "are not fairly and sufficiently before [the Court] to justify consideration"). This Court's conclusion in *Peoples* that a party cannot raise new arguments and authority in a petition for review was based on the well-recognized principle that any argument not raised in a lower court cannot be raised to a subsequent appellate court. Id. Here, because RAP 13.4(b)(1) permits review only where there is a conflict with a Supreme Court decision, Petitioners cannot obtain review by raising the allegedly conflicting authority for the first time to this Court.

Third, to the extent the three newly-cited cases pertain in any way to the Opinion, the decisions are consistent. Petitioners rely on these cases for the general proposition that privileges should be narrowly construed. The Court of Appeals specifically recognized and applied this approach. Op. at 11. The Court of Appeals noted that "[t]he only type of information the bank has refused to produce that the Nortons claim is outside the privilege is information about the bank's internal investigations and monitoring of suspicious activity." Op. at 14. As to this limited class of documents and information, the Court held, consistent with the other reported Bank Secrecy Act privilege decisions, that such material is protected from disclosure in civil discovery. There is nothing about that narrow and discerning decision that is "in conflict" with this Court's generalized guidance about the application of privileges. ¹

Petitioners have failed to demonstrate that the Opinion is in conflict with any decision of this Court. Review should be denied.

B. The Opinion is Consistent with Settled Bank Secrecy Act Jurisprudence and OCC Guidance

Not only is the Court of Appeals' decision consistent with authority of this Court, it is also supported by all three of the leading Bank

Indeed, Petitioners' argument here is equally applicable to every decision applying a privilege to limit discovery. The party seeking disclosure can always argue that the court's decision protecting certain material from disclosure conflicts with the general rule to construe privileges narrowly. Such arguments that could be made in every privilege dispute do not support discretionary review under RAP 13.4.

Secrecy Act privilege cases as well as OCC guidance. The Opinion is in accord with the *Union Bank*, *Cotton*, and *Whitney* decisions and the OCC guidance that the Bank Secrecy Act privilege extends not just to SARs themselves but also to other investigatory documents created by banks to comply with the Bank Secrecy Act's requirements.

The overwhelming weight of authority supports the Court of Appeals' decision. Pursuant to the Bank Secrecy Act and implementing regulations, national banks are required to assist the government in monitoring financial crimes. Specifically, banks are required to "develop" and provide for the continued administration of a program reasonably designed to assure monitoring compliance." 12 C.F.R. § 21.21(b). When the bank's statutorily-mandated monitoring and investigation regime detects suspicious activity, the bank must file a SAR. In order to encourage banks to cooperate with law enforcement and to shield monitoring techniques from would-be criminals, the Bank Secrecy Act prohibits banks from disclosing SARs and related investigatory documents. The Bank Secrecy Act regulations provide that any bank that is "requested to disclose a SAR, or any information that would reveal the existence of a SAR, shall decline to produce the SAR or such information." 12 C.F.R. § 21.11(k). Interpreting this language, courts and the OCC have made clear that internal investigatory documents created by a bank for the purpose of complying with the Bank Secrecy Act, including documents created to determine whether activity requires a SAR, are likewise prohibited from disclosure.

For example, the plaintiffs in *Union Bank*, like Petitioners here, sought access to the bank's "internal suspicious activity reports." 130 Cal. App. 4th at 384; see, e.g., CP 96 (Petitioners' request for all documents "created as a result of any investigation"). The court held that an "internal memorandum prepared as part of a financial institution's process for complying with federal reporting requirements is generated for the specific purpose of fulfilling the institution's reporting obligation." Id. at 391. The court reasoned that such "internal reports or memoranda citing suspicious activity... may legitimately be part of the process for complying with federal reporting requirements." Id. at 392. Accordingly, "[t]hese types of documents fall within the scope of the SAR privilege." *Id.* at 391. Importantly, the *Union Bank* court, like the Court of Appeals here, held that the lynchpin of the inquiry was whether the documents were "prepared as part of a bank's process of investigating and preparing SAR's." Id. at 397. If so, the documents are protected. If not, they must be produced. See Op. at 12 (agreeing that "the Bank Secrecy Act privilege reaches to material prepared by the national bank as part of its process to detect and report suspicious activity") (quotations omitted).

The decision in *Cotton* also supports the Opinion. The plaintiffs there sought "[a]ll documents relating to any inquiry or investigation or review conducted by" the bank. 235 F. Supp. 2d at 811. Petitioners here sought the same thing. CP 96. The court held that while "factual documents which give rise to suspicious conduct" must be produced, investigatory "documents representing drafts of SARS or other word

product or privileged communications that relate to the SAR itself... are not to be produced." *Id.* at 815.

The Opinion is also in accord with the *Whitney* decision. As noted above, there the court held that "any preliminary, prepatory, follow-up or related communications" are privileged, as is the "discussion leading up to or following the preparation or filing of a SAR or other form of report of suspected or possible violations." 306 F. Supp. 2d 678 at 680, 683.

Finally, the OCC's own guidance (which, like the Court of Appeals' Opinion, relies on *Union Bank*, *Cotton*, and *Whitney*) powerfully buttresses the Opinion as well. The OCC has stated: "SAR confidentiality [applies] not only to a SAR itself, but also in appropriate circumstances to material prepared by the national bank as part of its process to detect and report suspicious activity, regardless of whether a SAR was ultimately filed or not." 75 Fed. Reg. 75576, 75579.

The Court of Appeals carefully analyzed this authority and rightly concluded that it supported protecting U.S. Bank's Bank Secrecy Act documents from disclosure, to the extent any such documents exist. Petitioners' attempt to distinguish these cases is unavailing and, in any event, does not provide any basis for review under RAP 13.4.

Petitioners' reliance on the decisions of *In re Whitley*, 2011 WL 62002895 (Bankr. M.D.N.C. Dec. 13, 2011) and *Regions Bank v. Allen*, 33 So.3d 72 (Fla. App. 2010) does nothing to undermine the validity of the Court of Appeals' decision and certainly provides no legal basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4. In *Whitley*, an unreported

bankruptcy court order, the court protected "any SAR filed by a bank as well as any document that refers to a SAR having been filed or refers to information as being part of a SAR or otherwise reveals the preparation or filing of a SAR." 2011 WL 62002895, at *4. This is consistent with protecting investigatory documents created pursuant to the Bank Secrecy Act and which could lead to the creation of a SAR. In the same vein, in *Regions*, the court reversed a trial court decision ordering a bank to simply redact all references to SARs. 33 So.3d at 73. On appeal, the *Regions* court agreed with authority holding that the Bank Secrecy Act privilege extends to "whether a SAR or other report of suspicious transaction to a governmental agency exist; whether such a report is being prepared or has been filed; and the contents of such a report or the information contained therein." *Id.* at 76. Thus, this authority, too, supports the Opinion.

Put simply, there is no need, justification, or basis under RAP 13.4 for review of the Court of Appeals' well-supported decision.

C. This Correctly Decided Federal-Law Discovery Dispute is Not an Issue of Such Great Public Importance that it Must Be Decided by the Washington Supreme Court

Petitioners also argue generally that review should be granted in this case because financial fraud is bad. Petition at 14. But Petitioners make no particularized showing of why this particular, correctly-decided discovery dispute is of substantial public importance — the standard under RAP 13.4(b)(4). If Petitioners' generalization were sufficient to warrant review, then review would be necessary of every dispute in all fraud cases.

Petitioners assert – with some drama – that the Court of Appeals' decision poses a "near insurmountable barrier to enforcement of securities laws." Op. at 14. This unsupported assertion is hyperbole. The Court of Appeals applied a narrow federal law privilege, in the same manner as the other courts to consider the issue, to preclude discovery into a limited category of material unrelated to the underlying facts of any alleged fraud. Notwithstanding their exaggerated assertions, Petitioners have not been deprived of the opportunity to attempt to prove their (legally and factually baseless) claims. The Bank Secrecy Act privilege does not restrict the production of underlying factual documents that could be used as evidence of fraud, but instead applies to "internal reports or investigations of suspicious activity [which] are not 'proof' of the crime." Union Bank, 130 Cal. App. 4th at 393. U.S. Bank has already produced an enormous volume of underlying transaction and account documents, including detailed information about every single transaction in every single account. Nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision impedes parties from legitimately seeking evidence of misconduct.²

² The notion that this case presents an issue of public importance because it concerns claims against a bank relating to a customer's financial fraud is further undermined by the fact that allegations like those at issue here are regularly found not to state a claim. See, e.g., Zabka, 131 Wn. App. at 172-74 (dismissing claims because banks owe noncustomers no duty of care and have no duty to prevent losses resulting from customer misconduct); In re Agape Litig., 681 F. Supp. 2d 352, 360 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (rejecting plaintiffs' claim that bank breached duty of care under Bank Secrecy Act monitoring requirements because there is no such duty or right of action); Hanninen v. Fedoravitch, 583 F. Supp. 2d 322, 326 (D. Conn. 2008) (same); cf. 31 U.S.C. § 5318(g)(3) (granting banks a safe harbor from litigation arising out of bank's actions in filing SAR).

The correctly-decided Opinion, rightly upholding the narrow application of a federal law privilege in a discovery dispute, does not present such substantial issues of public importance in Washington as to necessitate review. Petitioners' general assertions about the importance of preventing financial fraud are insufficient to satisfy their heavy burden of proving a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

D. The Decision Not to Order In Camera Review Does Not Conflict with Washington Supreme Court Authority

Finally, Petitioners contend that review should be granted because the Court of Appeals' decision not to require *in camera* review somehow conflicts with this Court's decisions. Again, there is simply no conflict. Importantly, the Court of Appeals did not hold that *in camera* review would never be appropriate. Instead, the Court rightly noted the numerous categories of documents U.S. Bank had produced, and held that Petitioners had failed to establish any "reason to believe that the bank is withholding discoverable documents." Op. at 14. As a result, the Court concluded that Petitioners had "not articulated a basis for requiring *in camera* review" of any documents created by U.S. Bank pursuant to the Bank Secrecy Act and subject to the Bank Secrecy Act privilege. Op. at 15.3

³ The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with authority from other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Gregory v. Bank One, 200 F. Supp. 2d 1000, 1003 (S.D. Ind. 2002) (in camera review of documents subject to Bank Secrecy Act is not required).

In an effort to find some purported conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision regarding *in camera* review and the authority of this Court, Petitioners once again cite to several cases they neglected to cite previously. *See* Petition at 16 (citing *Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wa.*, 176 Wn.2d 686, 295 P.3d 239 (2013); *Fellows v. Moynihan*, 175 Wn.2d 641, 285 P.3d 864 (2012); *State v. Harris*, 91 Wn.2d 145, 588 P.2d 720 (1978)). In their submissions to the Court of Appeals, Petitioners did not discuss *Fellows* or *Harris* at all, and cited *Cedell* only as to the standard of review (not in support of their arguments regarding *in camera* review). *See* Respondent's Brief at ii, 11, 43-45. As before, Petitioners' failure to cite these decisions to the Court of Appeals demonstrates that the decisions are not controlling of the issue decided by the Court of Appeals, and thus demonstrates that there is no real conflict. Moreover, Petitioners cannot raise via their Petition argument and authority they failed to present to the Court of Appeals. *Peoples Nat'l*, 82 Wn.2d at 829.

Even if Petitioners had properly raised these cases to the Court of Appeals, there is no conflict. In *Cedell*, this Court held that a party was entitled to an *in camera* review of purportedly privileged documents only if the party had made a reasonable showing that an act of *bad faith* had occurred. 176 Wn.2d at 700 (requiring "a showing that a reasonable person would have a reasonable belief that an act of bad faith tantamount to civil fraud has occurred"). In other words, courts will generally trust a party's assertion of privilege unless there is reason to believe the assertion is in bad faith. There is nothing like that here. As the Court of Appeals

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